RECEIVED

Jan 16 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001208
Case No. 2018-CP-10-3286

Karolina Richardson and Krista Richardson, Respondents,

v.

Mt. Pleasant Square Associates, II, LLC d/b/a Oyster Park
Apartments, Dewberry Capital Corporation, and GREP
Southeast, LLC,..... Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ANDREW F. LINDEMANN
LINDEMANN LAW FIRM, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

JEFFREY A. ROSS #74254
EMILY C. SHEETS #78767
ROSS & CRISTALDI, LLC
863 Coleman Boulevard, Suite B

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in denying the Appellants' motions for directed verdict and JNOV on the Respondents' negligence claim brought pursuant to the Residential Landlord Tenant Act because the evidence presented fails to support a finding of a breach of any duty of care under the Residential Landlord Tenant Act?

- II. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in finding that the Appellants committed a discovery violation and in awarding sanctions in the amount of \$25,200?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a negligence action pursuant to the South Carolina Residential Landlord Tenant Act (RLTA), S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-10, *et seq.*, by the Respondent Karolina Richardson and her daughter, the Respondent Krista Richardson. From May to September 2017, the Respondents were tenants at Oyster Park Apartments located in Mount Pleasant, South Carolina. Oyster Park Apartments is owned by the Appellant Mt. Pleasant Square Associates II, LLC d/b/a Oyster Park Apartments and was developed by the Appellant Dewberry Capital Corporation (“Dewberry”). During the time the Respondents lived at Oyster Park Apartments, it was managed by the Appellant GREP Southeast, LLC (“Greystar”).

By way of background, the Respondents moved into Unit 104 at Oyster Park Apartments on May 17, 2017. (R. 317). Unit 104 experienced external flooding from a storm that occurred on or about May 23, 2017. (R. 317-318, 795). As a result of the flooding, the property manager (Greystar) moved the Respondents from Unit 104 to Unit 101 on May 26, 2017. (R. 318-319, 339).

On July 10, 2017, Karolina Richardson reported by email to the property manager (Kathlina Sampson) that she discovered “black mold” in Unit 101. Her email states in part:

For the past couple of weeks we have smelled mold/mildew, but have assumed it was innocent. At the same time my daughter and I have been suffering from severe allergy symptoms. As of yesterday I noticed black mold on the bathroom CEILING – assume to be from upstairs. Today we notice black mold from behind washer. I need this addressed today.

(R. 323, 341-342, 1106-1107). That email was sent at 2:31 a.m. Karolina Richardson received a reply email at 11:47 a.m. on that same date from Kathlina Sampson stating that they “have initiated the necessary steps to address this issue with the utmost haste.” (R. 1105). July 10th was the first day Karolina Richardson noticed any mold. (R. 331). The property manager moved the Respondents on July 12th or 13th to another unit, specifically Unit 102. (R. 326, 365). The property manager also initiated remedial action, including retaining Cyrus Higgs to perform mold testing which was done immediately on July 10, 2017. (R. 364, 629). Additionally, the property manager made contact with Belfor for remediation services on July 10, 2017, with a contract being entered on the following day. (R. 365, 634-636). The remediation was begun on July 14th and completed by July 18th. (R. 584-587). Thus, remediation of Unit 101 was completed within eight days of Karolina Richardson having provided notice of the “black mold.”

The Respondents were moved out of Unit 101 to Unit 102 on July 12th or 13th. (R. 326, 365). They never had any issues with mold or water intrusion in

Unit 102. (R. 339-340). They were never required to move back to Unit 101; they remained in Unit 102. The Respondents eventually moved out of Oyster Park Apartments on Labor Day in 2017. (R. 335).

As a result of their tenancy at the Oyster Park Apartments, the Respondents filed suit against the Appellants on June 27, 2018. The causes of action included the RLTA negligence claim as well as claims for a violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices (SCUTPA), negligent misrepresentation, fraudulent misrepresentation, and civil conspiracy.

Following the completion of discovery, the case proceeded to trial before Circuit Court Judge Jennifer McCoy and a jury on July 18, 2022. At the close of the Respondents' case-in-chief, the Appellants moved for a directed verdict as to all causes of action. (R. 479-504). The trial court granted a directed verdict as to the SCUTPA and civil conspiracy claims but denied a directed verdict as to the RLTA negligence claim. (R. 482, 494, 501). The trial court also took under advisement the directed verdict motion as to the negligent misrepresentation and fraudulent misrepresentation claims. Subsequently, the Respondents withdrew their claims for negligent misrepresentation and fraudulent misrepresentation. (R. 256). After the close of all of the evidence, the Appellants renewed their directed verdict motion, which was denied. (R. 524).

The case was presented to the jury on the RLTA negligence claim only. (R. 511-514). The jury ultimately returned a verdict of \$850,000 actual damages for the Respondent Karolina Richardson and \$150,000 actual damages for the Respondent Krista Richardson. (R. 22, 526-527). The jury allocated fault among the Appellants as follows: 35 percent as to Mt. Pleasant Square Associates II, LLC d/b/a Oyster Park Apartments, 30 percent as to Dewberry Capital Corporation, and 35 percent as to GREP Southeast, LLC. (R. 23, 533-534).

Following the verdict, on July 29, 2022, the Appellants filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV) contending that the evidence presented fails to support a finding of a breach of any duty of care under the Residential Landlord Tenant Act. (R. 254-262). That motion was summarily denied by Judge McCoy by Order filed August 24, 2022. (R. 7-8).

On August 29, 2022, the Appellants filed a timely Notice of Appeal to this Court.

Thereafter, on December 8, 2022, Judge McCoy issued an Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions Pursuant to Rule 37(b)(2)(C), SCRCP, finding that the Appellants had committed a discovery violation and awarding sanctions in the amount of \$25,200. (R. 9-13). The Appellants filed a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend and/or motion to reconsider as to that sanctions order. (R. 265-269). The appeal was held in abeyance to allow Judge McCoy to consider the Appellants' Rule

59(e) motion. That motion was heard on January 19, 2023, and Judge McCoy issued an Order denying that motion on June 6, 2023. (R. 14-17).

The Appellants thereafter filed a timely Amended Notice of Appeal to this Court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for questions of law is *de novo*. The appellate court "may reverse where the decision is affected by any error of law." *Murphy v. Owens Corning*, 393 S.C. 77, 710 S.E.2d 454, 457 (Ct. App. 2011). The appellate courts are "free to decide matters of law with no particular deference to the fact finder." *Id.*

"In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried by a jury, [appellate courts] may only correct errors of law. The factual findings of the jury will not be disturbed unless no evidence reasonably supports the jury's findings." *Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp.*, 387 S.C. 22, 691 S.E.2d 135, 142 (2010).

"The imposition of sanctions is generally entrusted to the sound discretion of the Circuit Court." *Karppi v. Greenville Terrazzo Co., Inc.*, 327 S.C. 538, 489 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1997). "A trial court's exercise of its discretionary powers with respect to sanctions imposed in discovery matters will be interfered with by the Court of Appeals only if an abuse of discretion has occurred." *Id.* "The burden is upon the party appealing from the order to demonstrate the trial court abused its discretion." *Id.* "An abuse of discretion may be found where the appellant shows that the conclusion reached by the trial court was without reasonable factual support and resulted in prejudice to the rights of appellant, thereby amounting to an error of law." *Id.*

ARGUMENTS

I. The trial court erred in denying the Appellants' motions for directed verdict and JNOV on the Respondents' negligence claim brought pursuant to the Residential Landlord Tenant Act.

The jury returned a verdict on the Respondents' negligence claim brought pursuant to the South Carolina Residential Landlord Tenant Act (RLTA), S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-10, *et seq.* This cause of action is not recognized at common law. In *Pryor v. Northwest Apartments, Ltd.*, 321 S.C. 524, 469 S.E.2d 630 (Ct. App. 1996), this Court pointed out that “[t]he RLTA creates a new cause of action not found at common law.” 469 S.E.2d at 633. In *Watson v. Sellers*, 299 S.C. 426, 385 S.E.2d 369 (Ct. App. 1989), this Court explained that at common law “the relationship of landlord and tenant, by itself, imposes no legal duty on the part of the landlord to keep in repair leased residential premises under the control of the tenant.” 385 S.E.2d at 372. Further, this Court found that “the RLTA is in derogation of common law and, therefore, the statute should be strictly construed.” 385 S.E.2d at 373. *See also, Young v. Morrissey*, 285 S.C. 236, 329 S.E.2d 426, 428 (1985) (“[t]raditionally, under the law of South Carolina, a landlord owes no duty to maintain leased premises in a safe condition”); *Robinson v. Code*, 384 S.C. 582, 682 S.E.2d 495, 496 (Ct. App. 2009) (same).

In *Watson, supra*, this Court held that “the RLTA by express words creates a cause of action in tort in favor of a tenant of residential property against his landlord for failure, after notice, to make necessary repairs and to do what is reasonably necessary to keep the premises in a habitable condition.” *Watson*, 385 S.E.2d at 373. This Court in *Watson* explained that “[t]he principal statute which creates a cause of action is Section 27-40-440 wherein it is provided in pertinent part that ‘[a] landlord shall ...make all repairs and do whatever is reasonably necessary to put and keep the premises in a fit and habitable condition.’” 385 S.E.2d at 374, *citing* S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-440(a)(2).

Critically, the duties owed by the landlord arise only “after notice.” The RLTA specifically provides that a tenant’s rights “do not arise until he has given notice to the landlord and the landlord fails to act within a reasonable time.” S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-630(d). The RLTA requires “delivery of ‘a written notice to the landlord specifying the acts and omissions constituting the breach.’” *Robinson*, 682 S.E.2d at 497, *citing* S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-610(a). Without notice, the landlord owes no duty to repair. *Watson*, 385 S.E.2d at 375. The RLTA provides for a private right of action in Section § 27-40-610(b) as follows: “the tenant may recover actual damages and obtain injunctive relief in a magistrate’s court or

circuit court, without posting bond, for any noncompliance by the landlord with ... § 27-40-440.” S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-610(b).¹

The trial court charged Section 27-40-440(a) as the source of the legal duties owed by the Appellants. (R. 512-513). Section 27-40-440(a) states:

- (a) A landlord shall:
 - (1) comply with the requirements of applicable building and housing codes materially affecting health and safety;
 - (2) make all repairs and do whatever is reasonably necessary to put and keep the premises in a fit and habitable condition;
 - (3) keep all common areas of the premises in a reasonably safe condition, and, for premises containing more than four dwelling units, keep in a reasonably clean condition;
 - (4) make available running water and reasonable amounts of hot water at all times and reasonable heat except where the building that includes the dwelling unit is not required by law to be equipped for that purpose, or the dwelling unit is so constructed that heat or hot water is generated by an installation within the exclusive control of the tenant and supplied by a direct public utility connection;

¹ Notably, the trial court erred in submitting the issue of punitive damages to the jury. Punitive damages, however, are not recoverable under the RLTA. Section 27-40-610 only authorizes the recovery of actual damages and not punitive damages. There was no harm, however, because the jury found that punitive damages were not warranted. (R. 545-546).

- (5) maintain in reasonably good and safe working order and condition all electrical, gas, plumbing, sanitary, heating, ventilating, air conditioning, and other facilities and appliances, including elevators, supplied or required to be supplied by him. Appliances present in the dwelling unit are presumed to be supplied by the landlord unless specifically excluded by the rental agreement. No appliances or facilities necessary to the provision of essential services may be excluded.

S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-440(a). The trial court also charged subsection (b) which states: “(b) If the duty imposed by paragraph (1) of subsection (a) is greater than any duty imposed by any other paragraph of that subsection, the landlord's duty must be determined by reference to paragraph (1) of subsection (a).” S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-440(b). (R. 513). The trial court provided no other instructions on the duty of care other than what was read verbatim from Section 27-40-440.

At the close of the Respondents’ case-in-chief, the Appellants made a motion for directed verdict on the RLTA negligence claim. (R. 480-482). The trial court denied that motion based on the testimony of the Respondent Karolina Richardson and another tenant, Oba Mubarak, finding that “they both testified to conditions that were poor.” (R. 482). The trial court further ruled: “whether or not they found [sic] the landlord to live up to the duties of the Landlord Tenant Act is totally up to the jury to decide. It’s not a legal conclusion that I can reach based on the testimony that’s been brought out.” (R. 482). Without stating any specifics,

the trial court concluded that “[t]here’s at least some evidence in the record that presents an issue of facts [sic] for the jury.” (R. 482). The Respondents later renewed that directed verdict motion, and it was similarly denied. (R. 524).

Following the \$1 million verdict, the Appellants made a post-trial JNOV motion which renewed the same arguments made at the directed verdict stage. (R. 254-262). By written order filed August 24, 2022, the trial court denied the JNOV motion. The court found that “there was substantial evidence in support of Plaintiffs’ claim, and the jury weighed the evidence presented at trial and reached a reasonable conclusion as to the value of Plaintiffs’ damages suffered as a proximate result of Defendants’ conduct.” (R. 8). The trial court did not address with specificity the “substantial evidence” to which it referred.

Moreover, the trial court did not state with any specificity what duties of care under Section 27-40-440(a) were breached nor the evidence supporting each such breach. However, a careful review of the record, including the testimony and exhibits admitted during the Respondents’ case-in-chief, clearly demonstrates the absence of any evidence to support a finding that the Appellants violated the duties of care outlined in Section 27-40-440(a).

A. Section 27-40-440(a)(1)

Section 27-40-440(a)(1) requires the landlord to “comply with the requirements of applicable building and housing codes materially affecting health and safety.” S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-440(a)(1). The Respondents never offered any evidence as to any applicable building and/or housing codes. Such codes were never identified to the jury. There were no codes placed into evidence. There was no testimony offered by either a lay or expert witness as to what any codes require or that any codes were breached and the breach not remedied. In short, the record is devoid of any evidence to support a finding that a duty of care under Section 27-40-440(a)(1) was owed or breached. In fact, the term “codes” does not appear in the trial transcript. Moreover, the trial court never charged the jury as to any applicable “building and housing codes,” and frankly, the existence of such codes needs to be presented by admission of the local ordinances adopting such codes. *See, Kincaid v. Landing Dev. Corp.*, 289 S.C. 89, 344 S.E.2d 869, 872 (Ct. App. 1986) (holding the trial court erred in charging the jury that a violation of a standard building code is negligence *per se* where plaintiffs failed to offer evidence that the municipality passed an ordinance adopting the building code because courts will not take judicial notice of an ordinance). No such ordinances are in evidence. For each of these reasons, the trial court erred in denying the directed

verdict and JNOV motions with respect to the duties set forth in Section 27-40-440(a)(1).

B. Section 27-40-440(a)(2)

Section 27-40-440(a)(2) requires the landlord to “make all repairs and do whatever is reasonably necessary to put and keep the premises in a fit and habitable condition.” S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-440(a)(2). The “fit and habitable” provision has been interpreted to apply only to “the inherent physical qualities of the premises.” *Fair v. United States*, 334 S.C. 321, 513 S.E.2d 616, 617 (1999). To recap, a tenant’s rights “do not arise until he has given notice to the landlord and the landlord fails to action within a reasonable time.” S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-630(d). Section 27-40-610(a) requires that “noncompliance with § 27-40-440 materially affecting health and safety or the physical condition of the property” must be remedied within fourteen days or remedial measures must at least be commenced within fourteen days. S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-610(a). In the event of fire or casualty damage to the premises, the tenant’s remedy is outlined in Section 27-40-650, but that section does not place any duty nor time restraints on the landlord to make repairs. S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-650.

The evidence presented in the Respondents’ case-in-chief does not support a violation of Section 27-40-440(a)(2). In denying the directed verdict motion, the

trial court pointed only to the testimony of Karolina Richardson and Oba Mubarak and specifically that “both testified that the conditions were poor.” (R. 482). While it is unclear what the trial court was specifically referring to, the mere existence of “poor conditions” is not actionable under the RLTA. In order for the Respondents to prevail, the landlord needed to be provided written notice of the “poor conditions” and to have failed to take remedial action within a reasonable time. The evidence, including the testimony of Karolina Richardson and Oba Mubarak, does not support such a finding.

Oba Mubarak was another tenant at Oyster Park Apartments, but his tenancy was over a year *after the Respondents had moved away*. The Respondents presented testimony from Mubarak about concerns his family had with mold. The evidence presented includes an email chain beginning on January 16, 2019 and ending on January 21, 2019. (R. 347, 1020-1023). The Respondents vacated the premises on Labor Day in 2017. While the evidence presented through Oba Mubarak may have had some relevance for the Respondents’ SCUPTA claim, it has no relevance for their RLTA claim. The trial court erred in considering the Mubarak testimony as providing any support for the Respondents’ RLTA claim.

As for the testimony of the Respondent Karolina Richardson (hereafter referred to as “Karolina” to distinguish her from her daughter Krista), she and her daughter moved into Unit 104 at Oyster Park Apartments on May 17, 2017. (R.

317). Unit 104 experienced external flooding from a storm that occurred on or about May 23, 2017. (R. 317-318, 795). As a result of the flooding, the property manager (Greystar) moved the Respondents from Unit 104 to Unit 101 on May 26, 2017. (R. 318-319, 339).

On July 10, 2017, Karolina reported by email to the property manager (Kathlina Sampson) that she discovered “black mold” in Unit 101. Her email states in part:

For the past couple of weeks we have smelled mold/mildew, but have assumed it was innocent. At the same time my daughter and I have been suffering from severe allergy symptoms. As of yesterday I noticed black mold on the bathroom CEILING – assume to be from upstairs. Today we notice black mold from behind washer. I need this addressed today.

(R. 323, 341-342, 1106-1107). That email was sent at 2:31 a.m. Karolina received a reply email at 11:47 a.m. on that same date from Kathlina Sampson stating that they “have initiated the necessary steps to address this issue with the utmost haste.”

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