**RECEIVED**

**Jan 04 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-001208  
Case No. 2018-CP-10-03286

---

Karolina Richardson and Krista Richardson,

Respondents,

v.

Mt. Pleasant Square Associates, II, LLC d/b/a Oyster Park Apartments, Dewberry Capital Corporation, and GREP Southeast, LLC,

Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

s/Clayton B. McCullough  
Clayton B. McCullough, Esq., SC Bar No. 13722  
McCULLOUGH KHAN, LLC  
2036 eWall Street  
Mount Pleasant, SC 29464  
(843) 937-0400

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Trial Court Correctly Denied Appellants' Motions for Directed Verdict and JNOV on Respondents' Negligence Claim Brought Pursuant to the Residential Landlord Tenant Act (RLTA).**

In ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, a court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Swinton Creek Nursery*, 334 S.C. at 476, 514 S.E.2d at 130. The Trial Court can only be reversed on appeal when there is

no evidence to support the ruling below. *Strange*, 314 S.C. at 430, 445 S.E.2d at 440. A motion for JNOV may be granted only if no reasonable jury could have reached the challenged verdict and the jury’s verdict will not be overturned if any evidence exists that sustains the factual findings implicit in its decision. *Welch*, 342 S.C. at 300, 536 S.E.2d at 419.

The jury returned a verdict on the single cause of action for negligence.

“Negligence actions, such as this one, may be brought under the RLTA (the RLTA creates a right in tort for breach of a duty owed by the landlord to the tenant). As with any negligence action, plaintiff must establish (1) a duty of care owed by the defendant to the plaintiff; (2) a breach of that duty by a negligent act or omission; and (3) damage proximately resulting from the breach.” *Nedrow v. Pruitt*, 336 S.C. 668, 675, 521 S.E.2d 755, 758 (Ct. of App. 1999) (internal citations omitted).

“In adopting the RLTA, the General Assembly expressly provided that the landlord has a duty to make all repairs and to do whatever is reasonably necessary to keep the premises in a fit and habitable condition.” *Id.* at 675, 676 (citation omitted).

The South Carolina Residential Landlord Tenant Act states:

- (a) A landlord shall:
  - ...
  - (2) make all repairs and do whatever is reasonably necessary to put and keep the premises in a fit and habitable condition;
  - (3) keep all common areas of the premises in a reasonably safe condition. . . ;
  - ...
  - (5) maintain in reasonably good and safe working order and condition all . . . plumbing, . . . , heating, ventilation, air conditioning. . .

S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-440.

Section 27-40-610(b) provides that “the tenant may recover actual damages . . . for any noncompliance by the landlord with Section 27-40-440.”

There was significant evidence provided at trial to justify the Trial Court’s denial of the motion for directed verdict and post-trial motion for JNOV. Appellants incorrectly state that the RLTA requires written notice to the landlord for a claim to exist citing S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-630(d). That code section deals with the wrongful failure to provide essential services. Respondents’ case is based upon S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-440 (2), (3), and (5). These code sections do not require **written** notice to the landlord. The case cited by Appellants in support of their notice requirement actually states the following: “[A]s a result, this court has held the Landlord-Tenant Act creates a cause of action for a tenant of residential property against the landlord, ‘for failure, after notice, to make necessary repairs and to do what is reasonably necessary to keep the premises in a habitable condition.’” *Robinson v. Code*, 384 S.C. 582, 586, 682 S.E.2d 495, 497 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing *Watson v. Sellers*, 299 S.C. 426, 433, 385 S.E.2d 369, 373 (Ct. App. 1989). As such, for a claim to exist, the landlord must be on notice of the issue and fail to remedy it. There is no requirement for written notice. If the General Assembly wanted to require written notice for S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-440 (2), (3), and (5), it would have done so. The General Assembly required written notice for S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-630(d) and chose not do so in S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-440 (2), (3), and (5). This omission is significant to show the existence of a different intention. *State v. Ramsey*, 409 S.C. 206, 211, 762 S.E.2d 15, 18 (2014).

Here, there is ample evidence of notice to Appellants of mold and water leaks before Karola Richardson notified them of active mold growth in Unit 101 – Respondents’ second apartment. First, Karola testified she smelled musty odors while living in Unit 104 and notified the staff of Oyster Park on multiple occasions. (R. p. 318). Nothing was done to investigate the cause of these

odors. Second, five units experienced significant flooding causing Respondents to move apartments. Nothing was done to investigate (or document) the extent of the flooding and if the water infiltration caused mold to grow in these areas. Third, before moving into Unit 101, Karola told an Oyster Park employee that Unit 101 looked like it would flood (like the 5 adjoining apartments), which would result in mold. (R. pp. 320-321). This information was documented by an Oyster Park employee on the Move-In Inspection Form for Unit 101. (R. pp. 1088-1092). Again, nothing was done. Fourth, after moving into Unit 101, Karola continued to smell the musty odor and continued to notify the staff at Oyster Park. (R. pp. 322-323). Nothing was done to investigate the source of the smells and figure out what was causing them to occur. Finally, and most tellingly, after Karola reported the mold growth in Unit 101, the Greystar / Dewberry / Oyster Park representatives' email chain shows that Travis Harmon had already known about, and discovered, the leak in Unit 301 and was trying to get LandSouth to repair it. (R. pp. 767-772). It is undisputed that the leak in Unit 301 was the cause of the water and mold issues in Unit 201 and Unit 101 and the direct and proximate cause of the Respondents' injuries. Any one of these facts alone justify the Trial Court denying Appellants' motions for directed verdict and for JNOV and allowing this case to go to the jury.

Additionally, Travis Harmon, the employee in charge of responding to the ongoing active water leak in Unit 301, was not called by Appellants to testify at trial. A party's failure to call its own employees as witnesses to testify to facts which are reasonably known to them gives rise to an inference that the employees' testimony, if presented, would have been unfavorable to the party. *Brock v. Carolina Scenic Stages*, 219 S.C. 360, 365, 65 S.E.2d 468, 470 (1951).

Finally, as of the date of trial, there were approximately 100 documented complaints of mold, mildew, and water leaks by tenants at Oyster Park. (R. pp. 396, 795-1019). Despite a clear

Greystar policy to document water and mold events, Kathlina Sampson admitted the appropriate reporting was not done after Unit 104 (Respondents' first apartment) flooded, after Units 102 (Respondents' third apartment), 103, 105, and 106 flooded, after mold and saturated drywalls were found in Unit 101 (Respondents' second apartment), after mold and saturated drywalls were found in Unit 201, and after saturated drywalls and a leaking plumbing pipe were found in Unit 301. (R. pp. 436-437). In fact, there is not even a Greystar record of the saturated drywalls and a leaking plumbing pipe in Unit 301. (R. pp. 436-437). Appellants admit they did not follow their own reporting guidelines, and many of the instances of water intrusion and mold at Oyster Park during the May through August 2017 time period were not documented in any way. (R. pp. 436-437). There are no records to show what was found or how the issues were remedied. This is further justification for denying the Appellants' motion for directed verdict and JNOV. The evidence shows Oyster Park has had systemic problems with leaks causing mold beginning at least by February 2017. (R. pp. 1024-1026). The scope and scale of the ongoing issues at Oyster Park put Appellants on notice of issues in the entire complex – not just in Units 101, 102, and 104.

Based on the clear evidence in the record, the Court appropriately denied Appellants' motion for a directed verdict and motion for JNOV. Respondents provided sufficient evidence that Appellants failed, after having notice, to make necessary repairs and to do what was reasonably necessary to keep the premises in a habitable condition. There was also sufficient evidence that Appellants failed to maintain the plumbing in reasonably good and safe working order and condition. There was sufficient evidence at trial establishing Appellants violated RLTA §§ 27-40-440(a)(2), (3), and (5).

Appellants try to argue that written notice is required; however, that is not the legal standard. They also argue that by moving Respondents from Unit 101 into Unit 102 several days

after Karola Richardson notified them of visible mold growth in her apartment, that they have satisfied the RLTA. They ignore the fact that all these units had previously seriously flooded in the weeks before and that they smelled musty and likely contained mold. They ignore the fact that an active (**known**) plumbing leak went unrepaired in Unit 301 and was left long enough to allow the water to flow downhill and saturate Unit 201, causing mold in that unit and then to continue to leak down into Unit 101, saturating it and causing mold to grow in the wall cavity and then long enough for mold to grow on the walls visible in the apartment. After several more days, Appellants then moved Respondents back into previously flooded Unit 102. This entire time, Respondents were getting sicker and complaining about smelling musty odors in all of these same areas. At no time did Appellants ever disclose to Respondents information about the ongoing plumbing issue causing the leaks and mold.

Finally, Appellants misapply S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-610, which provides a process for a tenant to provide written notice to a landlord spelling out breaches to the lease agreement and allowing a 14-day cure period. Respondents did not pursue a breach of lease claim. This code section and the 14-day time period has no bearing on Respondents' negligence claim. Similarly, Appellants' reliance on S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-630 is misplaced. Respondents did not make a claim for failure to provide essential services. For the reasons stated above, Appellants' appeal should be denied.

## **II. The Trial Court Appropriately Awarded Sanctions for Discovery Abuse and Did Not Abuse Its Discretion.**

Respondents have appealed the Trial Court's Order awarding sanctions arising out of Appellants' failure to produce approximately 1,000 additional pages containing approximately 100 resident complaints of mold and water infiltration into apartments at Oyster Park until the business day before trial. If a party fails to obey an order to provide or permit discovery, the Trial Court

may impose sanctions such as striking pleadings, dismissing the action, or rendering a default judgment. Rule 37(b)(2)(C), SCRCP.

In determining the appropriateness of a sanction, the Court should consider such factors as the precise nature of the discovery and the discovery posture of the case, willfulness, and degree of prejudice. *Laney*, 262 S.C. at 60, 202 S.E.2d at 15. “An award of attorney’s fees and costs is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion.” *Parker*, 319 S.C. at 335, 461 S.E.2d at 45.

“The six factors to consider in determining an award of attorney fees are: 1) the nature, extent and difficulty of the legal services rendered; 2) the time and labor devoted to the case; 3) the professional standing of counsel; 4) the contingency of compensation; 5) the fee customarily charged in the locality for similar services; and 6) the beneficial results obtained.” *LeFurgy*, 313 S.C. at 561, 443 S.E.2d at 580, n.4.

As stated, Appellants produced discoverable documents the day before trial. Emily Sheets, trial counsel for Appellants, explained to the Trial Court that she discovered the Oyster Park staff kept notebooks of resident claims on-site – including claims for water leaks and mold. (R. pp. 294-296). Sheets immediately requested those records, confirmed they were relevant and discoverable, and notified Respondents’ counsel immediately. (R. pp. 294-296). The documents were then produced on Friday, July 15, 2022. The trial began on Monday, July 18, 2022. On Sunday, July 17, 2022, Plaintiffs’ counsel emailed the Trial Court twelve (12) exhibits in support of their motion for sanctions.

The email stated as follows:

Please allow this email to serve as a supplement in support of our Motion for Sanctions filed on Friday. The issue is the failure, until Friday, to produce records of approximately 50 mold complaints made by tenants at Oyster Park. I have attached some of the more specific letters and emails on this issue, however, based

on the trial preparation this is by no means complete. I would also stress that I have had countless conversations with the lawyers for the Defendants over the past 3.5 years trying to obtain this information.

The following materials are attached hereto:

Exhibit 1 Letter dated Jan. 25, 2019 to Jamie Ackerman asking for Defendants to supplement discovery to include mold complaints – this information was not provided in their discovery responses.

Exhibit 2 Letter dated Feb. 19, 2019 to Jamie Ackerman again asking for mold complaints (Defendants only produced information about Plaintiffs complaints).

Exhibit 3 Motion to Compel

Exhibit 4 Letter dated Dec. 19, 2019 to Douglas Leadbitter asking for supplemental responses to provide mold complaints.

Exhibit 5 Letter dated July 7, 2020 asking for an update on discovery including Oyster Park resident mold complaints.

Exhibit 6 Email from Gower Wooten and Darnelle – they are “waiting on some additional information from Defendant to respond”

Exhibit 7 Motion to Compel

Exhibit 8 Letter to Doug Leadbitter dated Sept. 24, 2020 asking to supplement responses to mold complaint and confirming will take up with Court at hearing

Exhibit 9 Order dated Jan. 10, 2021 from Judge McCoy granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Compel (ESI searches and supplement of mold claims)

Exhibit 10 Email from Kirkley White dated Dec. 10, 2021 stating the ESI search would cost “anywhere from \$15,000 to \$50,000” and stating that it was unnecessary because Defendants produced all mold complaints that Defendants have in either hard copy or electronically

Exhibit 11 Email from Emily Sheets (in response to finding an email about a “mold book” kept by Oyster Park staff) dated June 24, 2022 stating Defendants have produced everything we have but she would verify

Exhibit 12 Supplemental document production dated Friday, July 15, 2022 producing approximately 1000 additional documents containing, among other things, an additional 40-50 resident mold complaints.

(R. pp. 1116-1239).

The discovery requests and motions to compel make clear the fact that Respondents were seeking information about mold, mildew, and water complaints by Oyster Park residents. The materials also show the Trial Court ordered this information be produced. The correspondence shows Respondents' counsel's efforts to discover this information. After Respondents' efforts failed, the court ordered an ESI search for this information. An email from Kirkley White, dated December 10, 2021, in response to the ongoing ESI search, states the "cost will range anywhere from \$15,000 to \$50,000 depending on the volume of e-mails that are returned" and further states:

"Also, keep in mind that we have already produced on two separate occasions the file for all mold related complaints kept in hard copy or electronically at Oyster Park, and separate search hits of all emails related to mold claims/complaints from tenants at Oyster Park and have updated these as our client's received them. So, we expect the results of these searches to duplicate what your client has already received in discovery."

(R. pp. 1233-1235).

On June 24, 2022, Respondents' counsel emailed Appellants' trial counsel asking about a "mold book" referenced in an email to Kathlina Sampson that was produced as part of the ESI search. In response, Appellants' counsel wrote, "We'll look into it and get back to you. As far as I know, we've produced everything we have but I'll verify and this email will suffice for a supplemental request." (R. pp. 1236-1237).

Ultimately, on the Thursday before trial, Appellants' trial counsel learned that Oyster Park had multiple notebooks of resident complaints in the Oyster Park office broken down by unit number and details of the complaint. (R. pp. 294-295). This information was then produced to Respondents' counsel. From it, many additional complaints of water leaks and mold were discovered and referred to at trial. (R. pp. 795-1019). The bottom line is that this information was not produced in a timely manner. It was not produced after two (2) motions to compel were filed and granted. Significant time, money, and attorney, staff, and court energy was wasted – all of

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